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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	TEDDY M. WASSILLIE, 

          Employee, 

               Claimant,

          v. 

ASSOCIATION OF VILLAGE

COUNCIL PRESIDENTS,

          Employer,

          and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO.,

          Insurer,

               Defendants.
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	 FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200520840
AWCB Decision No.  10-0042
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on February 26, 2010.


On February 2, 2010, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s workers’ compensation claim (WCC).  The employee, Teddy M. Wassillie, appeared telephonically and represented himself (employee).  Attorney Michael Budzinski represented the employer and insurer (employer).  The employee testified by deposition and telephonically.  John Swanson, M.D. and Christopher Wilson, M.D., both testified by medical report.  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing.


ISSUES

The employee argues he has been unable to work and is, thus, entitled to temporary total disability (TTD) benefits from December 1, 2005 and ongoing.  The employer maintains the employee was medically stable and released to his job at the time of the injury on June 1, 2006, so he is not entitled to any disability benefits after June 1, 2006.

1. Is the employee entitled to TTD benefits after May 8, 2006 and ongoing?

A. Is the December 1, 2005 work injury the substantial cause of the employee’s left arm, bilateral shoulder,  bilateral knee and neck symptoms and disabilities? 

B. Was the employee both totally disabled from his job at the time of injury due to his work injury and not medically stable as to his work injury after May 8, 2006 and ongoing?

The employee contends the Reemployment Benefits Administrator (RBA) Designee abused her discretion in finding him ineligible for reemployment benefits.  The employer argues the RBA Designee’s decision denying eligibility for reemployment benefits was not an abuse of discretion as it was supported by substantial evidence in the form of the employee’s treating physician’s opinion, in regards to his work injury, the employee could return to his job at the time of injury.

2. Did the RBA Designee abuse her discretion in finding the employee ineligible for reemployment benefits? 


FINDINGS OF FACT

Based on the preponderance of the evidence
 available in the record, the following findings of fact are made:

1. On December 1, 1005, the employee injured his finger when he was working for the employer installing a wall.  (Report of Injury (ROI), 12/1/05).  He was using the butt end of an axe to pound when the axe slipped, and the butt end hit his left index finger, breaking it.  (Id. and employee’s 7/30/09 deposition, pgs. 6 & 12.)  

2. On the same day, the employee was seen at the emergency room (ER) at the Yukon-Kuskokwim Regional Hospital (Y-K), where it was noted the employee reported the injured finger looked crooked immediately after the accident, but a co-worker pulled it straight.  (Y-K ER clinic note of physician assistant (PA) Alyssa Perry, PA-C, 12/1/05.)

3. An x-ray was done, revealing a comminuted crush injury fracture with multiple fractures extending through the entire proximal phalanx of the left index finger.    There was also a transverse fracture proximally associated with mild dorsal angulation and approximately 0.4 cm of palmar displacement.  (David Vanderburgh, M.D.’s x-ray report, 12/1/05.)

4. On December 2, 2005, the employee was transferred to Alaska Native Medical Center in Anchorage, where surgery was performed by Chris Manion, M.D.  Dr. Manion performed a closed reduction of the fracture, placing two wires from the distal to the proximal aspect of the proximal phalanx across the fracture site, achieving good restoration of the alignment of the shaft fracture.  The intra-articular fracture was held in reduction and cross-pinned from the radial border.  The employee was discharged home with instructions not to use the left upper extremity for any physical activities and a lifting limit of five pounds.  He was also instructed to follow-up at Y-K in four weeks.  (Dr. Manion’s operative report, 12/2/05.)

5. On January 3, 2006, the employee was seen for follow-up at Y-K, when a repeat x-ray showed good alignment of the fracture.  Dr. Manion ordered a repeat x-ray to be performed in two weeks.  (Dr. Manion’s review of the left index finger x-ray, 1/3/06.) 

6. The January 18, 2006 x-ray demonstrated good callous formation and acceptable alignment.  (Dr. Manion’s review of the left index finger x-ray, 1/18/06).  Dr. Manion ordered the wires and pins to be removed and aggressive range of motion for the injured finger.  (Id.)  

7. The employer initially accepted the injury and paid TTD benefits from December 2, 2005 through May 8, 2006.  (Compensation Reports, 12/14/05-5/17/06.)
8. On January 31, 2006, the employee was seen by physical therapist (P.T.) Kate Huckert She noted the claimant’s left hand and fingers were beginning to move more, with less pain.  The employee reported he performed his home exercise program daily, and he complained of left sided wrist, arm, shoulder, and neck pain. (P.T. Kate Huckert’s clinic note, 1/31/06.)
9. On the same day, the employee was also seen by a health care provider who renewed his prescriptions for Motrin, Vicodin, and Flexeril for his pain.  (Clinic note, 1/31/06.  Provider signature not legible.)  

10. On February 8, 2006, when next seen by physical therapy (PT), the P.T. noted the employee’s neck and arm were moving much better due to the Flexeril, although all five fingers continued to have restricted flexion and range of motion.  In addition, the left wrist range of motion was restricted.  (P.T. clinic note, 2/8/06.  Provider signature not legible.)

11. On February 21, 2006, family nurse practitioner (FNP) Laura Whitman wrote a letter to the Board, stating it was not possible to offer an opinion at that time concerning whether the employee would be permanently precluded from returning to work due to his injury, as his rehabilitation had not been completed.  She opined it would be dangerous for the employee to do construction work at that time, due to his impressive weakness in the left hand and wrist.  (FNP Whitman’s letter 2/21/06.)

12. On February 21, 2006, when seen by P.T. Huckert, the employee complained of soreness in his left neck and shoulder, and pain, tingling and stiffness in his left hand.  He reported he could not pour coffee with his left hand due to pain and loss of strength.  (P.T. Huckert’s clinic note, 2/21/06.)

13. On March 7, 2006, the employee reported pain in his left finger, and weakness and numbness in his left arm.  P.T. Huckert noted the employee’s grip and pinch strength in his left hand was only at 50% and his progress was slow.  (P.T. Huckert’s clinic note, 3/7/06.)

14. On March 15, 2006, Patrick Plunkett, M.D., released the employee to light duty work, to use his right hand only for grasping.  (Dr. Plunkett’s work release, 3/15/06.)

15. On April 10, 2006, at the employer’s request, the employee was seen, by orthopedic surgeon John Swanson, M.D., for an employer’s medical evaluation (EME).  Dr. Swanson reviewed the employee’s medical records, including personal review of the imaging studies that had been done.  He also performed a medical history and physical examination.  Dr. Swanson diagnosed the employee with a comminuted intra-articular fracture of the proximal phalanx of the left index finger on December 1, 2005, and pre-existing cervical spondylosis consisting of probable arthritis of the uncovertebral and facet joints and degenerative disc disease of the cervical spine.  He opined there was evidence of symptom magnification with probable secondary gain and somatic focus with subjective complaints outweighing objective abnormalities.  Dr. Swanson opined the substantial cause of the employee’s initial need for treatment was the work injury, but since the fracture was healed and the range of motion of the finger was almost back to normal, the substantial cause of his complaints at the time of the EME were symptom magnification with probable secondary gain and somatic focus with subjective complaints outweighing objective abnormalities.  He further opined the injury to the left index finger was a temporary condition, and the employee would be medically stable by June 1, 2006.  Dr. Swanson indicated the employee could be released to light-duty work, not lifting over 20 pounds with his left hand until May 10, 2006, at which time he could lift 50 pounds, and with no restrictions as of June 1, 2006.  He recommended returning the employee to light-duty work would be the best rehabilitation therapy for him, and crucial to his final outcome.  (Dr. Swanson’s EME report, 4/10/06.)

16. On April 12, 2006, Dr. Plunkett opined the employee would not incur any PPI as a result of his December 1, 2005 work injury and that he could return to his normal job.  (Dr. Plunkett’s answers to rehabilitation specialist’s questions, 4/12/06.)

17. On April 19, 2006, the employee was seen for follow up by Dr. Plunkett, when the employee complained of left neck and shoulder pain and numbness of the left hand that radiated up the left upper extremity.  Dr. Plunkett opined the employee might have cervical radiculitis or carpal tunnel syndrome, and suggested electrodiagnostic studies and continued physical therapy.  (Dr. Plunkett’s clinic note, 4/19/06.)

18. On April 28, 2006, P.T. Huckert noted the employee’s left finger strength was still at 50% when compared to the right, with decreased range of motion, but that the finger movement was within a functional range for most activities.  (P.T. Huckert’s clinic note, 4/28/06.)

19. On March 21, 2006, the Workers’ Compensation Technician (WCT) contacted the employer requesting information on whether the employee had been totally unable to return to his job at the time of injury for 90 consecutive days. and the employer confirmed the employee had been off work since December 2, 2005.  (WCT’s 3/21/06 letter & Employer’s 3/24/06 response.)  

20. On March 30, 2006, the WCT wrote the employee a letter referring him for a reemployment benefit eligibility evaluation to be performed by Peter Vargas, Jr., a rehabilitation specialist.  (WCT’s 3/30/06 letter to the employee.)

21. On May 9, 2006, Dr. Plunkett opined the employee would not have a PPI due to his work injury.  He also opined the employee’s left carpal tunnel syndrome versus cervical radiculitis was not work related.  Dr. Plunkett approved the employee’s return to the jobs of construction worker I, or carpenter’s helper, a heavy strength level job, and janitor, a medium strength level job.  (Dr. Plunkett’s May 9, 2006 response to rehabilitation specialist Pete Vargas’ April 12, 2006 letter.)

22. Dr. Plunkett is credible, based on his expertise as a board certified orthopedic surgeon and his familiarity with the employee’s condition.

23. On May 15, 2006, Mr. Vargas reported on his labor market survey in Alaska for the carpenter’s helper job and the janitor jobs, focusing on the central and southwestern areas for the carpenter’s helper, finding there were jobs available.  (Labor Market Survey Report, 5/5/06.)

24. On May 15, 2006, Mr. Vargas determined the employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits.  (Reemployment Benefits Eligibility Evaluation, 5/15/06.)

25. On May 30, 2006, the RBA Designee found the employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits.  (RBA Designee’s letter to employee, 5/20/06.)

26. The employee continued to be followed at Y-K, and continued to receive physical therapy.  (Y-K clinic notes, 6/5/06 & PT notes, 5/12/06-7/06).  P.T. Huckert observed in her June 15, 2006 clinic note the employee continued to have significant pain in the left index finger and it was unclear how impaired he truly was by his injury.  She planned to communicate this information to his case manager for further plan of care.  (P.T. Huckert’s clinic note, 6/15/06.)

27. On June 15, 2006, the employer controverted all benefits based on Dr. Swanson’s April 10, 2006 EME report.  (Controversion notice dated 6/12/06.)

28. On June 21, 2006, the employee filed a workers’ compensation claim (WCC).  He claimed temporary total disability (TTD) from December 1, 2005 until the present (June 19, 2006 is the date of the document), and review of reemployment benefits decision.  (WCC, filed 6/21/06.)  
29. On July 7, 2006, the employer filed a controversion of all benefits, relying on the treating physician Dr. Plunkett’s opinion the employee’s left index finger was healed, there was no PPI, and he could return to his job at the time of injury.  The employer also relied on EME physician Swanson’s opinion the employee was expected to be medically stable as of June 1, 2006 and would not require further medical treatment, but that he should continue his home exercise program.  (Controversion notice, dated 7/6/06.)

30. On December 20, 2006, the employee was evaluated by Daniel Smith, M.D, for a right shoulder condition, and Dr. Smith noted the employee’s left index finger was very sore in cold weather.  (Dr. Smith’s clinic note, 12/20/06.)  

31. On January 4 and January 18, 2007, the employee complained to Dr. Smith of left arm, wrist and finger pain.  (Dr. Smith’s clinic notes, 1/4/07 and 1/18/07.)  

32. On follow up on January 30, 2007, Dr. Smith examined the left index finger and prescribed a home exercise program for the employee.  (Dr. Smith’s clinic note, 1/30/07.)  

33. On March 23, 2007, Dr. Smith authored a letter, opining the employee had not returned to full function following the work injury to his left index finger, and in addition had intense radiculopathic pain that radiated up the arm to the shoulder.  He noted although the left side was the employee’s non-dominant side, he was unable to work with his left hand at all.  Dr. Smith indicated he had referred the employee to a hand surgeon.  (Dr. Smith’s letter, 3/23/07.)  

34. On June 13, 2007, Patricia Shands, M.D. examined the employee, for his right shoulder problems, as well as his left arm problems.  The employee reported a sensation of heaviness and pain which radiated from his neck into his left arm.  She noted the employee’s cervical spine x-rays in October 2006 had shown moderate degenerative changes to the C5-C6 level, as well as the C6-C7 level.  Dr. Shands noted examination of the cervical spine showed discomfort in the extremes of motion with forward flexion and extension, and motor testing to the upper extremities bilaterally was normal, and they were neurovascularly intact.  (Dr. Shands’ clinic note, 6/13/07.)

35. On August 8, 2007, the employee saw Dr. Swanson for a second EME.  Dr. Swanson reviewed the employee’s medical history and performed a history and physical examination.  He diagnosed the employee with the following:  1) a prior comminuted intra-articular fracture of the proximal phalanx of the left index finger; 2) probable pre-existing cervical spondylosis consisting of arthritis of the uncovertebral and facet joints and degenerative disc disease; 3) no evidence of intrinsic left shoulder pathology; 4) probable bilateral early osteoarthritis of the lateral compartments of the knees due to his genetic inheritance; 5) possible early osteoarthritis of the left hip due to his genetic inheritance; 6) evidence of somatic focus with subjective complaints outweighing objective abnormalities; 7) evidence of symptom magnification with probable secondary gain; and 8) possible arthritis of the right acromioclavicular (AC) joint.  Dr. Swanson opined the only diagnosis for which the December 1, 2005 work injury was the substantial cause was the left index finger fracture, which was medically stable, with a 1% PPI rating.  He further opined that in regards to the left index finger, the employee could return to work as a laborer.  He indicated the employee might have other non-work-related conditions such as arthritis of the knees or left hip that prevented his return to work as a laborer, but that he did not have enough information on those conditions to make that determination.  Dr. Swanson further opined the employee did not need any further treatment or evaluation for his work-related injury, and there were no restrictions in his ability to use his left index finger related to the work injury.  (Dr. Swanson’s EME report, 8/8/07.)

36. On September 18, 2007, Dr. Swanson supplemented his August 8, 2007 EME report with a letter, addressing Dr. Smith’s opinions and diagnoses.  Dr. Swanson disagreed with Dr. Smith’s opinion that the left index finger injury is the cause of the radiculopathic pain into the shoulder and the cause of the employee’s inability to work using his non-dominant left hand.  Dr. Swanson opined it is physiologically impossible for a left finger injury to cause radiculopathic pain radiating to the shoulder.  Dr. Swanson again opined there is no objective reason why the employee could not return to work using his left hand.  (Dr. Swanson’s supplemental EME report, 9/8/07.)

37. Dr. Swanson is credible, based upon his expertise as a board certified orthopedic surgeon.

38. On March 11, 2009, P.T. Russell Huckert opined the employee, who had been under his care for four years, had multiple problems which affected his function, prohibiting him from any gainful employment opportunities in his village.  He also opined a disability examination would be in the employee’s best interests.  (P.T. Russell Huckert’s letter, 3/11/09.)

39. On July 28, 2009, orthopedic surgeon Christopher Wilson, M.D., who specializes in hand, wrist, elbow and shoulder conditions, saw the employee in a second independent medical evaluation (SIME).  Dr. Wilson diagnosed the claimant as having sustained a comminuted fracture of the left index finger proximal phalanx as a result of his December 1, 2005 work injury.  Dr. Wilson opined the work injury had been adequately and successfully treated, and the employee did have a work-related disability and need for medical treatment for six months after the injury, and he was medically stable by June 1, 2006.  He further opined the employee’s ongoing symptomatic diagnoses are cervical spondylosis affecting his left upper extremity and bilateral rotator cuff tendinitis and AC joint arthritis, none of which are related to his work injury.  In addition, Dr. Wilson maintained none of the treatment the employee received for his neck and bilateral shoulders, and the surgical procedure for his right AC joint were for his work-related injury.  Dr. Wilson noted the December 1, 2005 injury was only to his left index finger and there was nothing to suggest he injured either shoulder or his neck during the work injury.  He opined there was no evidence in the medical records that the employee developed a Reflex Sympathetic Dystrophy (RSD) as a result of the finger fracture.  Dr. Wilson maintained it was a coincidence the symptoms of his cervical spondylosis and radiculopathy began about seven weeks after the finger injury and surgery.  He also opined it was coincidence the employee’s right shoulder started to bother him about one year after the left finger injury and surgery.  He noted the employee injured his right shoulder, and probably both shoulders, when he lifted a boat in October 2006.  In summary, Dr. Wilson opined the employee’s left index finger was 100% caused by the December 1, 2005 work injury and his cervical spondylosis and left upper extremity radiculopathy, as well as his bilateral shoulder rotator duff tendinitis and AC joint arthritis were 0% caused by the work injury.  He also opined the work injury did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with a preexisting condition to produce the need for medical treatment or any specific disability.  Dr. Wilson opined the employee did not need any additional medical treatment for his work injury, and he would be able to return to his job at the time of injury by June 1, 2006.  He gave the employee a 1% whole person permanent partial impairment for his left index finger injury.  (Dr. Wilson’s SIME report, 7/28/09.)
40. Dr. Wilson is credible, based upon his expertise as a board certified orthopedic surgeon specializing in hand surgery.

41. On July 30, 2009, the employee was deposed.  He testified the most significant physical problem he was having were his knees, his whole left arm, and “shocks” in his neck that “numb up the whole side of his head.”  (Employee’s 7/30/09 Deposition, pg. 21-22.)  He testified he did not have any injury with his knees.  (Id. at 22.)  He also testified he had surgery on his collarbone in September 2007 after he injured it when lifting up a boat.  (Id. at 25-26.)  The employee testified it was a couple of months after his December 2005 work injury that he began to have neck and shoulder problems.  (Id. at 31.)  He testified he has pain in his whole left arm, which goes toward his backbone, then he gets “shock-ness” that goes to underneath his jaw and behind the left ear.  (Id. at 31-32).  The employee testified the symptoms last about 30 minutes and occur about every two weeks, and they have not gotten worse or occurred more frequently over time.  (Id. at 35-37.)  He testified he has received shots given by Dr. Whitaker which help with this problem.  (Id. at 37-38.)  In addition, the employee testified he has been told he has arthritis, and he takes the medications hydrocodone,
 nabumetone,
 and nortriptyline
 for the pain on his left side, in his knees, and for his arthritis.  (Id. at 45-47).

42. The employee testified he has not been able to find a job since he is having problems with his left side.  He testified he has a difficult time sleeping at night, only sleeping about two hours per night.  He testified he has not tried to find a job since his work injury.  The employee testified he started he started to have problems with his left side and left arm in January 2006, about one month after his work injury.  He testified since he has received shots on his left side, the “shock-ness” he used to have has faded away.  The employee testified his doctors have told him they do not know what is causing the symptoms on his left side.  He testified he has trouble sleeping because of pain in his left index finger, left arm, right arm, and his knuckle.  He testified there are pins in his left index finger and he can feel them poking.  The employee testified much of his problems with sleep are caused by his left shoulder pain.  He further testified he has had problems with arthritis since his December 1, 2005 work injury.  He testified he did not know if his knee problems were related to his left finger fracture.  The employee testified he gave his full effort when he was examined by Dr. Swanson and Dr. Wilson.  He testified he was not sure which of his symptoms were related to the left finger fracture.  He testified no doctor has told him he cannot do his job at the time of injury, but his doctors have told him to take it easy, rest and do some light work.


PRINCIPLES OF LAW

I. GENERAL

AS 23.30.010.  Coverage.  

(a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee’s need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of employment. . . .When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.  Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board's “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”
  “An employee's preexisting condition will not” relieve an employer from liability in a proper case.
  A finding disability would not have occurred “but for” employment may be supported not only by a doctor’s testimony, but inferentially from the fact that an injured worker had been able to continue working despite pain prior to the subject employment but required surgery after that employment.  A finding reasonable persons would find employment was a cause of the employee’s disability and impose liability is, “as are all subjective determinations, the most difficult to support.”  However, there is also no reason to suppose Board members who so find are either irrational or arbitrary.  That “some reasonable persons may disagree with a subjective conclusion does not necessarily make that conclusion unreasonable.”

“Thus, for an employee to establish an aggravation claim under workers' compensation law, the employment need only have been ‘a substantial factor in bringing about the disability.’  Hester
 suggests that when a job worsens an employee’s symptoms such that she can no longer perform her job functions, that constitutes an ‘aggravation’ -- even when the job does not actually worsen the underlying condition.”

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  

(a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

AS 23.30.120.  Presumptions.  

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

“The text of AS 23.30.120(a) (1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.”
  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption all the benefits he seeks are compensable (id.).  An employee is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.
  The presumption applies to claims for medical benefits as these come within the meaning of “compensation” in the Act.
  “The presumption of compensability in AS 23.30.120(a) applies when an employer controverts continuing entitlement to temporary benefits.  To overcome this presumption, the employer must introduce ‘substantial evidence’ to the contrary.”

“Under Alaska law, a disability arising after a non-work-related injury is still compensable if an earlier work-related injury substantially contributed to the employee's disability.
  Thus the fact an employee has suffered a non-work-related injury does not, standing alone, rebut the presumption of compensability.

The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the disability or need for medical care and his employment.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the disability and employment
  or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.
  The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.

Once the preliminary link is established, the employer has the burden to overcome the raised presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence the injury is not work related.
  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 

(1) Produce substantial evidence providing an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 

(2)  Directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the employment was a factor in the disability.
  

“Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the employee’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”
  If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury, then an alternative explanation is not required.
  The employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.
  Therefore, credibility questions and the weight to give the employer’s evidence is deferred until after it is decided if the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption the employee’s injury entitles him to compensation benefits.

If the employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.
  Consistent with AS 23.30.120(a) and cases construing its language, an injured employee may raise the presumption a claim for continuing treatment or care comes within the provisions of AS 23.30.095(a), and in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary this presumption will satisfy the employee’s burden of proof as to whether continued treatment or care is medically indicated.
  

Board decisions must be supported by “substantial evidence,” i.e., “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.”
  The same standard is used in determining whether an employer has rebutted the §120 presumption.
  Where a physician had no opportunity to examine an employee “in any depth,” and where his conclusions were contrary to those of numerous treating physicians, his “knowledge of the case is so slight” as to make his report “worthless” and a “reasonable mind would not accept” his conclusions.  The judiciary may not reweigh evidence before the board.
  But it also will not abdicate its reviewing function and affirm a Board decision that has only “extremely slight” supporting evidence.
  In Black v. Universal Services,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held a “clear and unambiguous” EME report would overcome the §120 presumption, but if it disagrees with opinions of numerous treating physicians a reasonable mind would not accept its conclusions and it would not form a substantial basis to ultimately deny a claim.
  The Court has limited Black’s holding by refusing to reverse a decision “where the reviewing physician’s statement did not stand alone and was consistent with other evidence presented.”

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  

The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

II. TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY

AS 23.30.185.  Compensation for temporary total disability.  

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee’s spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.  

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act (Act) defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage while the disability is "total in character but temporary in quality,"
 and states that TTD may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.
  

The Alaska courts long ago defined TTD for its application in our cases.  In Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Alaska Industrial Board,(Phillips Petroleum)
 the Alaska territorial court defined TTD as "the healing period or the time during which the workman is wholly disabled and unable by reason of his injury to work."  The court explained:

A claimant is entitled to compensation for temporary total disability during the period of convalescence and during which time the claimant is unable to work, and the employer remains liable for total compensation until such time as the claimant is restored to the condition so far as his injury will permit.  The test is whether the claimant remains incapacitated to do work by reason of his injury, regardless of whether the injury at some time can be diagnosed as a permanent partial disability.

In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

As noted above, the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.
  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
 

AS 23.30.395.  definitions.  In this chapter

. . .

(21) ‘medical stability’ means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted clear and convincing evidence;

Thoeni v. Consumer Electronic Services, 151 P.3d 1249, 1256 (Alaska 2007) (The Court may reverse “a finding of medical stability where a prediction of medical stability turned out to be incorrect.”
  Predictions which proved to be incorrect “were not substantial evidence upon which the board could reasonably conclude” medical stability had been achieved.
 

III. REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

A. The standard of review:

Pursuant to AS 23.30.041(d) the RBA Designee’s decision must be upheld absent “an abuse of discretion on the administrator’s part.”  Several definitions of the phrase “abuse of discretion” appear in Alaska law although none occur in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act).  The Alaska Supreme Court has stated abuse of discretion consists of “issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or which stems from an improper motive.”
  An agency’s failure to properly apply the controlling law may also be considered an abuse of discretion.

The Administrative Procedure Act (APA) provides another definition for use by courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions.  It contains terms similar to those above and expressly includes reference to a “substantial evidence” standard:  

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence. . . .  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.
  

On appeal to the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Appeals Commission and the Alaska Supreme Court, the Board’s decision reviewing the RBA’s determination is subject to reversal under the “abuse of discretion” standard of AS 44.62.570 incorporating the “substantial evidence test.”  Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads us to apply a “substantial evidence” standard in our review of an RBA eligibility determination.  While applying a substantial evidence standard a “[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld.”

The task of determining whether an abuse of discretion has taken place is aided by our practice of allowing additional evidence into the record at the review hearing.  The practice is based on the rationale expressed in several superior court opinions addressing that issue on appeal of our prior decisions.
  Nevertheless, pursuant to 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), we are precluded from considering additional evidence if the party offering that evidence failed to exercise reasonable diligence in developing and presenting that evidence.
  

After allowing the parties to enter their evidence, the Board reviews it as well as the evidence before the RBA to assess whether the RBA Designee’s decision was supported by substantial evidence and therefore reasonable.
  If, in light of all the evidence, the RBA Designee’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence, the Board concludes the RBA Designee abused her discretion and remands the matter for reexamination of the evidence and for necessary action.

B. The RBA Designee’s Decision

AS 23.30.041 provides, in part:

(e)  An employee shall be eligible for benefits under this section upon the employee’s written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee’s job as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s ‘Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles’ for:

(1) the employee’s job at the time of injury; or

(2) other jobs that exist in the labor market that the employee has held or received training for within 10 years before the injury or that the employee has held following the injury for a period long enough to obtain the skills to compete in the labor market, according to specific vocational preparation codes as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s ‘Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles.’

(f) An employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if

(1) the employer offers employment within the employee’s predicted post-injury physical capacities at a wage equivalent to at least the state minimum wage under AS 23.10.065 or 75 percent of the worker’s gross hourly wages at the time of injury, whichever is greater, and the employment prepares the employee to be employable in other jobs that exist in the labor market;

(2) the employee previously declined the development of a reemployment benefits plan under (g) of this section, received a job dislocation benefit under (g)(2) of this section, and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of injury;

(3) the employee has been previously rehabilitated in a former worker’s compensation claim and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury; or

(4) at the time of medical stability, no permanent impairment is identified or expected.

Our regulation 8 AAC 45.510(b) states:

The administrator will consider a written request for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits if the compensability of the injury has not been controverted and if the request is submitted together with. . . . 

Our regulation 8 AAC 45.525, provides, in part:

(a) If an employee is found eligible for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits under 8 AAC 45.510 or 8 AAC 45.520, the rehabilitation specialist shall

(1) interview the employee and, if necessary, the employer at the time of injury to obtain a description of the tasks and duties of the employee’s job at the time of injury;

(2) review the following volume and, from the volume, choose the most appropriate title or titles based on the description of the employee’s job; the volume to be reviewed under this paragraph is

. . .

(B) on or after August 30, 1998, the effective date of the amendment of AS 23.30.041(e) by sec. 1, ch. 59. SLA 1998, the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s “Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles” unless, under AS 23.30.041(q), the board has designated a later revision or version of that volume; and

(3) submit the job title or titles chosen under (2) of this subsection to a physician.

(b) When interviewing the employee the rehabilitation specialist shall obtain descriptions of the tasks and duties for other jobs that the employee has held or for which the employee received training within 10 years before the injury, and any jobs held after the injury.  The rehabilitation specialist shall

(1) review the following volume and, from the volume, choose the most appropriate job title or titles based on the employee’s descriptions of the job’s (sic) held and training received; the volume to be reviewed under this paragraph is

. . .

(B) on or after August 30, 1998, the effective date of the amendment of AS 23.30.041(e) by sec. 1, ch. 59. SLA 1998, the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s “Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles” unless, under AS 23.30.041(q), the board has designated a later revision or version of that volume;

(2) determine whether the employee held the jobs long enough to meet the specific vocational preparation codes as described in the volume;

(3) submit the job title or titles chosen under (1)-(2) of this subsection, for which the employee meets the specific vocational preparation codes, to a physician.

(4) if the physician predicts the employee will have permanent physical capacities equal to or greater than the physical demands of a job or jobs, conduct a labor market survey to document that a reasonable number of job vacancies exist for those jobs. . . . 

ANALYSIS

I. IS THE EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO TTD BENEFITS AFTER MAY 8, 2006?

A. Is The December 1, 2005 Work Injury The Substantial Cause Of The Employee’s Left Arm, Bilateral Shoulder, Bilateral Knee Neck, and Symptoms And Disabilities? 

Whether the December 1, 2005 work injury is the substantial cause of the employee’s left arm, bilateral shoulder, bilateral knee and neck symptoms and disabilities is an issue requiring expert medical evidence concerning causation.  In satisfying the first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility or weighing conflicting evidence, the employee raised the presumption he has been disabled and unable to work since his December 1, 2005 work injury based on his own testimony concerning his symptoms and disability, Dr. Smith’s March 2007 letter, in which he opined the employee could not use his left arm because of pain radiating from his left finger, as well as P. T. Huckert’s March 2009 medical report, in which he opined the employee had multiple problems affecting his function and prohibited him from any gainful employment opportunities in his village.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the § 120 presumption and cause it to attach to the employee’s claim the work injury is the substantial cause of his left arm, bilateral shoulder, and neck symptoms and disability.

In addressing the second step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the employer has presented substantial evidence to rebut the presumption based on the opinions of Drs. Plunkett, Swanson and Wilson, which if accepted would exclude the work injury as the substantial cause of his left arm, bilateral shoulder, and neck symptoms and disability.  Specifically, Dr. Plunkett opined the employee’s left carpal tunnel syndrome versus cervical radiculitis was not work-related, and both Drs. Swanson and Wilson opined the only diagnosis for which the December 1, 2005 work injury was the substantial cause was the left index finger fracture.  Dr. Swanson considered the employee’s left arm and shoulder complaints, diagnosing probable cervical spondylosis and arthritis of the right AC joint, but opined these conditions were not related to the work injury.  Dr. Swanson also opined the employee’s bilateral knee complaints were due to probable early osteoarthritis of the knees.  Dr. Wilson also considered the employee’s cervical spondylosis affecting his left upper extremity, bilateral rotator cuff tendinitis and AC joint arthritis and opined they were not related to his work injury, nor was there any evidence the employee had injured either his shoulder or his neck during the work injury.  Since the employer has produced substantial evidence the symptoms and any ongoing disability and any need for medical treatment are not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the employee has failed to prove his claim that the work injury is the substantial cause of his ongoing left upper extremity, bilateral shoulder, bilateral knee and neck symptoms and disabilities.  The employee argues he has been unable to work since his December 1, 2005 work injury based upon his complaints of left neck, arm and bilateral shoulder and bilateral knee pain.  Although Dr. Smith implied in his March 23, 2007 opinion there was a relationship between the left index finger injury and the left arm and shoulder pain, less weight is given to Dr. Smith’s opinion regarding this matter, as he did not explain how a left finger fracture could cause the left arm and shoulder symptoms.  Although P.T. Huckert opined the employee suffered from multiple problems affecting his function and preventing him from any gainful employment opportunities in his village, little weight is given to his opinion concerning the causation, as he did not describe these multiple problems or offer an opinion concerning the cause of these problems.  On the other hand, based upon Dr. Plunkett’s credible opinion, the employee’s symptoms of possible left carpal tunnel syndrome or cervical radiculitis were not related to his work injury.  Also based on these credible opinions of Drs. Plunkett, Swanson and Wilson, the December 1, 2005 work injury is not the substantial cause of the employee’s left upper extremity, bilateral shoulder, bilateral knee or neck symptoms and disability.  Therefore any disability resulting from the employee’s left arm pain, neck pain and/or cervical radiculitis, or bilateral shoulder pain and bilateral knee pain does not entitled him to any benefits under the Workers’ Compensation Act.

B. Was the employee both totally disabled from his job at the time of injury due to his work injury and not medically stable as to his work injury after May 8, 2006 and ongoing?

The employee is claiming TTD benefits from December 1, 2005 and ongoing.  The employer paid the employee TTD benefits from December 2, 2005 through May 8 2006, so it is only the employee’s claim for TTD benefits after May 8, 2006 that are at issue.  It must first be determined if the employee was medically stable and unable to work due to his work injury during any of the period for which he is requesting TTD benefits.  

At the first stage of the presumption analysis, without regard to credibility and without weighing conflicting evidence, the employee has raised the presumption he is unable to work and entitled to TTD benefits based on his own testimony that he had been unable to work since his December 1, 2005 work injury, the March 23, 2007 opinion of Dr. Smith, who stated the employee could not use his left arm, and P.T. Russell Huckert’s March 11, 2009 opinion he had multiple problems affecting his function and preventing him from any gainful employment opportunities.  This evidence is sufficient to raise the § 120 presumption and cause it to attach to the employee’s claim for TTD benefits.

In addressing the presumption analysis’ second step, and without regard to credibility, the employer has provided substantial evidence to rebut the presumption based on Dr. Plunkett’s opinion the employee was able to return to his job at the time of injury after May 8, 2006.  In addition, Drs. Swanson’s and Wilson’s opinions he was medically stable as of June 1, 2006 rebut the presumption as to any TTD benefits as of June 1, 2006.  Dr. Plunkett’s opinion directly eliminates any reasonable possibility the employment was a factor in any ongoing disability after May 8, 2006.  The opinions of Drs. Swanson and Wilson directly eliminate any reasonable possibility the employee was entitled to TTD after June 1, 2006 as he was medically stable.  Since the employer has produced substantial evidence the claimant is not entitled to TTD after May 8, 2006 and after June 1, 2006, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.

At the third stage of the presumption analysis, the employee failed to prove his claim for TTD benefits after May 8, 2006 by a preponderance of the evidence.  Based on the opinion of the employee’s treating physician, Dr. Plunkett, the employee was able to return to his job at the time of injury on May 9, 2006 so that he was not entitled to TTD benefits starting May 9, 2006, even if his left index finger was not medically stable by that date.  Although Dr. Swanson opined in his April 10, 2006 EME report the employee would not be able to perform his job at the time of injury, a heavy strength level job (lifting 50 to 100 pounds occasionally), until June 1, 2006, this opinion was a prediction.  Greater weight is given to Dr. Plunkett’s opinion the employee could return to his job at the time of injury, as this opinion was given based on a more recent evaluation of the employee.  In addition, based on the opinions of Drs. Swanson and Wilson, the employee was medically stable as to his left index finger work injury as of June 1, 2006, so that he is not entitled to TTD benefits based on the medical stability of his work-related injury after June 1, 2006.  

The employee argues he has been unable to work since his December 1, 2005 work injury based upon his complaints of left neck, arm and bilateral shoulder pain.  He also complains that he still has pain in his left index finger.  However, as discussed above, the employee is not entitled to any benefits under the Act for his left arm, bilateral shoulder and neck symptoms and disabilities, as the work injury is not the substantial cause of those symptoms and disabilities.  Although the employee may still have left finger pain, Dr. Plunkett’s opinion demonstrates the left finger condition did not prevent the employee from returning to his job at the time of injury as of May 9, 2006.  Further, the Dr. Swanson’s and Dr. Wilson’s opinions prove the left index finger condition was stable on June 1, 2006.  

In summary, because the employee was able to return to his job at the time of injury on May 9, 2006 as to his work injury, he is not entitled to TTD benefits as of that date.  Because he was medically stable as to his work injury on June 1, 2006, he is not entitled to TTD benefits as of June 1, 2006.  The employee is not entitled to TTD benefits after May 8, 2006, and his claim for TTD benefits will be denied.

II. WAS THE RBA DESIGNEE’S DECISION FINDING THE EMPLOYEE INELGIBLE FOR REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION?

Under AS 23.30.041, an employee is eligible for reemployment benefits if a physician predicts he will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee’s job at the time of injury or other jobs that he has held within the last ten years prior to the injury.  In the instant matter, at the time rehabilitation specialist Mr. Vargas, who was assigned to conduct an evaluation of the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits, conducted his evaluation and when the RBA made her determination of the employee’s ineligibility for reemployment benefits, no physician predicted the employee would have permanent physical capacities less than those required by either his job at the time of injury or another job he had held in the ten years prior to his work injury.  Mr. Vargas followed the regulation 8 AAC 45.525 in conducting his evaluation.  He interviewed the employee and determined his job at the time of injury was that of a construction worker I or carpenter’s helper, and that he had also performed the work of a janitor for one year within the ten years prior to the work injury.  Mr. Vargas submitted the job descriptions for both these positions to the employee’s treating physician, Dr. Plunkett, who opined the employee had the physical capacity to perform both jobs.  Mr. Vargas then conducted a labor market survey that documented a reasonable number of job vacancies existed for those jobs.  Based on the above, Mr. Vargas determined the employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits.  Subsequently, based on Mr. Vargas’ properly conducted eligibility evaluation and recommendations, as well as her own review of the record, the RBA Designee found the employee was not eligible for reemployment benefits.  The preponderance of the evidence proves the RBA Designee’s decision finding the employee ineligible for reemployment benefits was supported by substantial evidence, was in accord with the statute and regulations, and, thus, the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in finding him ineligible.  

It is true subsequent to the reemployment evaluation performed by Mr. Vargas, additional information developed concerning the employee’s condition.  Dr. Smith on March 23, 2007 opined the employee was unable to work with his hand at all, due to pain that radiated up the arm to the shoulder.  However, greater weight is placed on the opinions of EME physician Dr. Swanson and SIME physician Dr. Wilson that any pain in the employee’s left upper extremity and shoulder is not related to the work injury, as discussed above.  Also, Dr. Swanson opined in his second EME report of August 8, 2007, that the employee would have a PPI of 1% of the whole person.  However, Dr. Swanson still opined the employee was able to return to his job at the time of injury as of June 1, 2006, in regards to his work injury.  Thus, even considering the new evidence developed after the RBA Designee’s May 30, 2006 decision, the preponderance of the evidence proves the new evidence supports rather than contradicts the RBA Designee’s determination of ineligibility for reemployment benefits.  The employee’s petition for a finding the RBA Designee abused her discretion in finding him ineligible for reemployment benefits will be denied.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1. The employee is not entitled to TTD benefits after May 8, 2006. 
2. The RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in finding the employee ineligible for reemployment benefits.
ORDERS
1. The employee’s claim for TTD benefits after May 8, 2006 is denied.

2. The employee’s petition for a finding the RBA Designee abused her discretion in finding him ineligible for reemployment benefits is denied.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on February 26, 2010.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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